ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


I. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial Based upon the 
Prosecution Failure to Turn Over Exculpatory Brady Evidence. 

II. The Prosecution Introduced Inadmissible Hearsay Evidence In Violation of the 
Confrontation Clause. 

III. Prosecution Improperly Argued Propensity Evidence. 
IV. The Prosecution Introduced Inadmissible 404(a) Evidence by Asking Julie if She 

Knew Q to Carry a Gun Portraying Him as a Gun Toting Criminal. 
V. Antonio's Testimony that Slim ''Told Me (Antonio) Sunday They Were Going To 

Throw Dice Again. It Was Rematch Day" was Extremely Prejudicial Hearsay. 
VI. The Prosecution Argued His Personal Beliefs and Vouched the Credibility of the 

Witnesses Before the Jury. 
VII. The Prosecution Argued False Evidence Regarding Donovan Wade's criminal 

history. 
VIII. Cumulative Error. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

''The Homicide" 

In the early evening hours of November 11, 2007, Phillip Sirmons ("Victim" or "Slim") 

was shot and killed around the 1600 block of Huntington, West Virginia, in an alleyway off of 

Seventeenth-Street. More particularly the shooting occurred between Eleventh A venue and 

Doulton A venue near the Simms Apartment Building. Slim, a native of Detroit, Michigan, was 

also robbed of the crack cocaine he was selling near the time of his death. The Huntington Police 

Department ("HPD") arrived to investigate within an hour of the shooting and discovered the 

Victim lying on his back, surrounded by a pool of blood, with his pants pulled down. A crime 

scene was established, evidence was collected and photographed, and an investigation was 

launched to determine who shot Slim and why. 

''The Suspect" 

The investigation quickly established Quinton Peterson ("Petitioner" or "Q"), a 25 - year 

old man from Columbus, Ohio, as the suspect. Detectives were led to Petitioner by information 
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given to them by Donovan Wade ("Donovan"). Petitioner was later arrested on December 3,2007, 

in Columbus, Ohio, and brought back to Cabell County, West Virginia to face charges for killing 

Slim. 

''Theory of the Case" 

The prosecution's theory was simple. Q lost a bunch of money to Slim in a dice game 

played a few days before the shooting and Q was angry. A rematch was scheduled and held on 

Sunday, November 11,2007, where Q continued losing money to Slim. Q left the dice game for a 

short time before coming back into the alley to shoot Slim. Although there was no eye-witness to 

the shooting, one witness saw Q coming back into the alley with guns, heard a single gun shot, and 

saw Q leaving the alley. Q left Huntington that night and went to Columbus, Ohio. He was found 

and arrested on December 3,2007 and his mother's house was searched on December 4,2007. 

Within his mother's house was a pair of size 8 Timberland boots which matched the lug 

characteristics of bloody shoe print impressions left at the crime scene. 

The prosecution had all they needed to get a conviction - motive, physical evidence and a 

witness. However, as the following will point out, the prosecution motive was flawed, the evidence 

was false and inadmissible, and its witness was deceitful. Worst of all was the non-disclosure of a 

key eye-witness. This is the story of how Qwas wrongfully convicted followed by the reasons for 

which he should be awarded a new trial. 

"Motive to Kill - The Dice Game" 

In the late evening of Thursday, November 8, 2007, and into the early morning of Friday, 

November 9, 2007, Q, Slim and Antonio Smith ("Antonio") were shooting dice and gambling 

inside the home of Erin Stolze ("Erin") who lives in the alleyway in between Seventeenth Street 

and Doulton Avenue in Huntington, West Virginia. (Appx. Vol. II pgs. 117; 115-16). The dice 
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game lasted approximately two, two and a half hours and ended sometime around 2:00 a.m. Friday 

morning. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 117). Q, Slim, and Antonio all gambled on the dice game, but who 

won, who lost, and how those wins and losses effected everyone was in dispute at trial as the loser 

of the dice game had motive to kill. 

According to Antonio, Slim was the big winner of the dice game and Q was the big loser. 

(Appx. Vol. II pg. 105). Antonio testified that Q lost approximately $400 to $500 throughout the 

course of the night. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 105). Because Slim was winning Q's money, he became 

rather boisterous and loud toward Q. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 105). This caused Q to become so upset 

that a verbal confrontation began which almost escalated into a fist fight. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 106). 

However, no fist fight occurred because Q left Erin's house a little after 2:00 a.m. Friday morning. 

(Appx. Vol. II pg. 106-107). Antonio told the jury that Q said, "Damn, I wish I had my gun," as 

he was leaving Erin's house. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 107). 

Refuting Antonio's testimony, Q took the witness stand and testified there was no verbal 

altercation or fist fight between he and Slim. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 511). Q explained the dice game 

had its normal ebb and flow of winners and losers and that he actually won a couple dollars. (Appx. 

Vol. IV pg. 512-13; 516). He definitively testified that he did not lose $400 to $500 to Slim that 

night. (Appx. Vol. IV, pg 512). He also definitively testified that he did not say "Damn, I wish I 

had my gun," as he left Erin's house. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 516). In fact, Q testified that it was 

actually Antonio and Slim that were in the heated game of dice. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 515). 

According to Erin's testimony, oh wait, Erin didn't testify. Why not? Erin, the owner of the 

home the dice game was being played, was the other eyewitness to this dice game. Surely Erin 

could clear up the contradicting stories between Antonio and Petitioner. But curiously she was not 

called to testify. Leaving Erin out of the story was so curious that even the jury thought it was 
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odd. After closing arguments and in the middle of jury deliberations, the jury sent out questions 

for the judge: "Did Slim have a girlfriend? If so was that Erin?" and "Who is Erin? Where does 

she live? (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 604). 

''The Rematch" 

The prosecution used Antonio's version of the dice game to establish the foundation of 

Petitioner's motive for killing Victim. But evidence of only one dice game wasn't enough. To 

enhance Petitioner's motive, the Prosecution solicited testimony of a scheduled rematch between 

Petitioner and the Victim. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 108). The Prosecution even claimed a rematch was 

required by the "rules of the street" if the loser so demanded. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 107-108). 

Antonio testified he was with Slim the Saturday (November 10,2007) after the dice game 

and into the early morning of Sunday (November 11,2007). While hanging with Slim, Antonio 

testified that Slim told him Q demanded a rematch and that it was going to take place later that 

Sunday. (Appx. Vol. II. pg. 108). Obviously, Slim did not appear to testify as to any scheduled 

rematch, so Antonio's hearsay statement essentially could not be effectively disputed by Q. 

However, Q did adamantly dispute that any rematch was scheduled because he testified that he 

won money on the first dice game. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 559). 

Regardless, another dice game did occur. The second dice game between Petitioner and the 

Victim took place on Sunday (November 11, 2007) in the alley behind the Simms School 

Apartment buildings in Huntington. Petitioner testified that it wasn't a scheduled rematch as much 

as it was killing time as the two were dealing. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 521,559). The State, however, 

argued that it was indeed a scheduled rematch, and the results of the rematch were the same as the 

original dice game - Victim was the big winner, Petitioner was the big loser. According to the 

State, because he lost more money, Petitioner eventually left the second dice game furious and 
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went to his cousin's close-by apartment to get guns. Petitioner then returned and shot the Victim 

to death then robbed him of the crack he kept in his anus and the money in his pockets. To establish 

the events taking place in that alley, the prosecution called one witness and relied on one piece of 

physical evidence. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 631-634). 

''The Witness" 

The prosecution called Donovan Wade ("Donovan") to testify as its only eyewitness to the 

Victim's shooting death. Donovan testified that he was in the area of Seventeenth Street and 

Doulton A venue during the late evening hours of Sunday, November 11,2007, looking for drugs. 

(Appx. Vol. II pg. 163). Throughout the course of the evening, Donovan claimed he went and 

purchased several rocks of crack from Slim and Qon three separate occasions. (Appx. Vol. II. pgs. 

164, 166, 168). 

Donovan, a self-admitted crack-cocaine addict ("crack"), testified that he knew Slim well 

because Slim was his drug dealer, (Appx. Vol. II pg. 158), but he did not know Q, having only 

seen him a couple of times on the street. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 159). Donovan testified, however, that 

he did buy crack from Q on one occasion because he believed that Q was losing money in the dice 

game. (Appx. Vol. II pgs. 164, 166, 168). He also testified that each purchase only took a matter 

of minutes to complete and that he would then leave the alley to go get high off of his portion of 

the crack and sell the rest. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 165-166). 

Throughout his testimony Donovan stated that each time he made a drug purchase that he 

only observed Slim and Q in the alley. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 169). Donovan also testified he believed 

that Slim was winning money from Q because of an observation he made the first time he bought 

drugs. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 167-70). The second and third time Donovan bought drugs, however, he 

did not pay attention to the winner or loser of the dice game but instead focused on scoring crack. 
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The three purchases in the aIley, and the subsequent drug dealing by Donovan elsewhere, took 

only a matter of forty-five minutes. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 167-170). 

Donovan testified that after he sold the last crack-rock on the night of the shooting; he saw 

Q, who had apparently left the alley while he was selling drugs to a customer, walking back toward 

Slim's location. At that time, Donovan claimed that Q was tucking two guns into his waste band. 

(Appx. Vol. II pg. 171, 174). Donovan claimed he heard a single gun shot go off so he started 

walking away. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 175). A minute or two later, Donovan stated he saw Q trotting 

east away from the aIley. (Appx. Vol. II pg. 175). On cross-examination, Donovan admitted that 

he was high or under the influence of crack at the time he allegedly observed Q entering the alley 

with guns and running from the area after the shooting. He also admitted he did not see Q shoot 

anyone. (Appx. Vol. II pgs. 179,182). 

Strangely, the prosecution never questioned Donovan about what Petitioner was wearing 

on the evening in question, despite Donovan's very descriptive statement given to Detective 

McMillian on November 29, 2007, (18 days after the murder) describing Petitioner as wearing 

black sneakers on the night of the shooting. Particularly, Donovan told Detectives two times that 

Q was wearing black "Air Force Ones" when he observed the events surround Slim's shooting. 

However, at trial, Donovan was never questioned about this previous statement. 

''Donovan's Reward for Testifying" 

Notwithstanding his testimony of being high at the time of the shooting, Donovan had other 

credibility problems. Mainly, Donovan had extra incentive to testify against Petitioner at trial - it 

got him out of two felony drug charges. Specifically, before the shooting, on August 24, 2007, 

Donovan plead guilty to a felony delivery of a controlled substance. His prison sentence was 
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suspended and he was placed on probation for two years on September 21,2007. Therefore, at the 

time of the Victim's murder, Donovan was out on probation. 

However, Donovan continued selling drugs while on probation. On both October 19,2007, 

(Appx. Vol. I pg. 10) and November 2, 2007, (Appx. Vol. I pg. 11) he attempted to sell drugs to 

an undercover officer. On November 9, 2007, those officers filed criminal complaints in the 

Magistrate Court of Cabell County. Court records show that a Circuit Court arrest warrant was 

issued for probation violations based on his continued drug trafficking. However, Donovan was 

never picked up on these charges and remained on the streets until November 29, 2007, (18 days 

after Slim's murder). 

Upon finally being arrested for the two felony warrants, Donovan was immediately taken 

to the HPD to give a statement to Detective, Cass McMillian. This statement was not concerning 

the undercover sells, but regarding the Victim's murder and what he saw. At the beginning of the 

statement, Detective McMillian acknowledged that he had arrested Donovan for the new criminal 

complaints for trafficking, but that he was not interested in discussing those charges. Rather, 

Detective McMillian only inquired about the shooting of the Victim during his interview with 

Donovan. After Donovan gave his statement at HPD, he was arraigned by a Cabell County 

Magistrate and released on a personal recognizance bond and released. (Appx. Vol. I pg. 14-15) 

Ten days later, the pending felony charges were dismissed and he was never subsequently Indicted. 

(Appx. Vol. I pg. 16). 

''The Getaway" 

The prosecution called witness Julie Eplion ("Julie") to establish Petitioner had fled 

Huntington on the night of the shooting The point of the testimony was to prove that Petitioner 

was guilty of the shooting because he fled the area after its occurrence. 
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Julie and Petitioner had dated off and on for about a month prior to the November 11,2007, 

shooting. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 253). On the night of the shooting, Julie testified that she started 

receiving a large number of phone calls from Q starting around 8:00 p.m. (Appx. Vol. III pgs. 255, 

258). Julie didn't answer the calls at first because she was hanging out with friends. (Appx. Vol. 

III pg. 259). When she finally answered Q's calls she stated Q wanted her to pick him up from the 

Rt. 60 Strike Zone Bowling Alley and take him to his cousin Brandon's house. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 

259). 

Julie picked Q up at the bowling alley a little after 9:00 p.m. and she was surprised to see 

that Q was already with Brandon when she arrived. When Q got into her car he stated that he no 

longer wanted to go to Brandon's house because there were cops in the area. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 

261). According to Julie's testimony, they ended up driving around town for awhile. (Appx. Vol. 

III pg. 262). During the drive Julie testified Q was acting nervous. When she asked him why, he 

told her that he couldn't tell her because she didn't want him to judge him. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 

262). At some point during the drive Julie testified that Q began making and receiving calls from 

a girl in Columbus to facilitate a pick-up. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 263). Eventually, Julie dropped Q 

off at McDonald's on Hal Greer Blvd., and that was the last she saw of Q. 

Petitioner did not dispute the majority of Julie's testimony, but added context to why he 

didn't want to go back near his cousin's house and why he wanted to get out of Huntington. 

Petitioner testified that Brandon's girlfriend informed them while they were at the bowling alley 

that Slim had been shot. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 540). Petitioner testified that because he was on parole 

and couldn't be out of the State of Ohio, that any police questioning would not be good. Therefore, 

he made arrangements to leave Huntington. (Appx. Vol. IV pg. 541). Regardless, Q did leave for 

Columbus that night. 
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''The CSI Investigation" 

When HPD Detectives discovered the Victim's lifeless body, his pants had been halfway 

removed and it appeared that someone had rifled through his pockets. (Appx. Vol. IV pgs. 300, 

303,304,305). Detectives also found an entry and exit wound in his armpits, and a 9-millimeter 

shell-casing with the Victim's blood on it. (Appx. Vol. III pgs. 298-303, 313). According to Officer 

Stephen Compton of HPD, an empty plastic bag and a pair of dice were also recovered near the 

Victim's body. (Appx. Vol. III pgs. 298-303).1 Finally, Crime Scene Investigator Compton lifted 

eight (8) bloody footwear impressions left on the asphalt, which were leading east away from the 

Victim's body. (Appx. Vol. IV pgs. 317, 347,348). 

''The Timberland Boots" 

As alluded to, after the Victim was shot, his blood pooled and apparently ended upon the 

bottom of the perpetrator's footwear. The shooter then left impression evidence of the lug 

characteristics from his or her shoes on the asphalt near the Victim's body. Detectives thus seized 

several pairs of shoes from various suspects as part of their investigation into the shooting, 

including a pair of size 8 Timberland Boots found at Petitioner's mother's house near Columbus, 

Ohio. 

In particular, Lieutenant Rocky Johnson with the HPD testified that he found and collected 

two pairs of Timberland Boots inside of Petitioner's mother's house on December 3,2007, while 

executing a search warrant. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 385). He testified that the boots were found within 

the bedroom at the top of the stairway to the left. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 386). However, Lieutenant 

The Prosecution eventually claimed that Slim's body was rolled over by Petitioner; his pants were pulled 
down by Petitioner; a baggy containing drugs was removed from his anus by Petitioner; and his pant pockets were 
rifled through by Petitioner. However, none of Petitioner's fingerprints were discovered at the crime scene. (Appx. 
Vol. III pgs. 310-313). The officers also conducted a forensic investigation of two cars being driven by witnesses who 
transported the Petitioner on the night of the shooting but found no traces of Slim's blood in either car. (Appx. Vol. 
III, pgs. 349-352). 
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Johnson testified that Petitioner's room was the bedroom at the top of the stairwell to the right and 

the room to the left was Petitioner's little brother's room. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 391-392). 

Importantly, no witness testified that the size 8 Timberland boots were Petitioner's. 

The size 8 Timberland boots were later tested with a special chemical to determine if there 

was any blood residue on the boots. The tests for blood on the size 8 Timberland boots came back 

negative for any blood residue. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 356). 

Witness Kevin McDowell of the State Police Crime Laboratory was also called as an expert 

witness to connect the size 8 Timberland boots with the eight (8) shoe impressions left at the scene. 

Mr. McDowell testified that of the eight (8) impressions taken, only three (3) had enough clarity 

to be meaningful. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 409). Mr. McDowell also testified that other shoes that had 

been collected and submitted were eliminated as having no evidentiary value except for the right 

size 8 Timberland boot. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 410). 

Crucially, Mr. McDowell testified that the lug characteristics of the right size 8 Timberland 

boot might matched the tread characteristics of three (3) shoe impressions left at the scene. He did 

not testify that it was a definitive match, but rather only stated the size 8 Timberland boots could 

possibly be the same boot that left the tread markings. (Appx. Vol. III pg. 419-421). He further 

admitted he could not rule out larger sized boots as having left the impression marks, and that he 

could not even definitively state that the tread patterns were from Timberland Boots. (Appx. Vol. 

III pg. 420-423). 

''The Conviction" 

Petitioner, at 25 years old, was convicted of First-Degree Murder after a jury trial 

concluding on July 31, 2008. He was subsequently sentenced to life in prison without the 

possibility of parole on August 1,2008. 
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''Discovery of Brady Material" 

After Petitioner's conviction it was discovered that the State withheld exculpatory 

evidence. On July 27,2008, the day prior to trial, Detective McMillian traveled to Erin's in hopes 

that she would corroborate Antonio's story that Petitioner was the big loser. She didn't. That day, 

Erin gave a full statement to Det~ctive McMillian describing that Q was not the big loser of the 
I 

dice game and he did not leave angry wanting his gun. Erin told Detective McMillian that it was 

Slim who lost money and it was Slim who was upset about not getting the opportunity to win it 

back before Qleft the house. In other words, Erin's testimony completely corroborated Petitioner's 

version of the events occurring at Erin's house and directly contradicted Antonio's version. This 

clearly exculpatory statement was never turned over to the defense prior to trial and Erin was never 

put on any witness list. 

S~YOFARGUMENT 

I. 	 The Trial Court Erred in Denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial Based upon the 
Prosecutions Failure to Turn Over Exculpatory Brady Evidence.

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