IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 15-1220 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plailltiff Below, Respondent, 

vs. 

QUINTON PETERSON, 

Defendant Below, Petitioner. 

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF 

COMES NOW, Respondent, State of West Virginia, by counsel, Julie A. Warren, 

Assistant Attorney General and responds to Petitioner's Brief.

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

A. 	 I didn't get the part where they asked her specifically whose shoes were 
who. 

Q. 	 You didn't hear Detective Johnson say that? 

A. 	 No, I heard him say that he - - that the boots were mine because they were 
got out of my room. 

Q. 	 No, sir. He said the clothes came out of your room and that both boots 
came out of the other bedroom and that your mother said the light brown 
boots were yours. Does that refresh your recollection? 

A. If! could look at my notes because I am pretty sure I wrote that down. 

App. Vol. IV. at 555-56. 

1. Because the Petitioner's objections were not raised at trial, he has waived the right to 

raise the issue on appeal. See State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 597,476 S.E.2d 535, 544 (1996) 

(stating that "[o]rdinarily, a defendant who has not proffered a particular claim or defense in the 

trial court may not unveil it on appeal"). "'One of the most familiar procedural rubrics in the 

administration of justice is the rule that the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court 

likely will result' in the imposition of a procedural bar to an appeal of that issue.'" State v. 

LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 316,470 S.E.2d 613,635 (1996) (citations omitted), see also Syl. Pt. 6, 

Yuncke v. Welker, 128 W.Va. 299, 36 S.E.2d 410 (1945), Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Cirullo, 142 W.Va 

56, S.E.2d 526 (1956). Because Petitioner failed to raise the issue at trial, he has forfeited any 

right to complain. See Id. 

The Petitioner admits that his trial counsel failed to raise any objections in relation to this 

exchange. Pt'r's Br. at 33. Thus, there is no question that this assignment of error has been 

waived for presentment on appeal. However, instead of addressing whether there was plain 
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error, which he does not believe he "should not be forced" to do, the Petitioner contends that he 

objected on his own behalf by disagreeing with Mr. Chiles recollection of Lt. Johnson's 

testimony. This argument lacks merit, as a criminal defendant who is represented by counsel 

cannot raise objections on his own behalf at trial. Moreover, the premise that a mere 

disagreement between a party and opposing counsel during cross-examination can constitute an 

objection at trial contradicts this Court's jurisprudence as it relates to the preservation oferror for 

the purpose of appeal. 

2. Second, the Petitioner's suggestion that Chris Chiles, ,the prosecutor involved in the 

exchange is guilty of misconducted is unfounded. Lt. Rocky Johnson, from the Huntington 

Police Department, confirmed that he participated in the execution of the search warrant for 

Petitioner's Columbus, Ohio residence, and that the size 6 and size 8 Timberland boots and 

articles of clothing were removed from the two separate bedrooms, both of which the Petitioner 

occupied. App. Vol. III at 384, 386, 392-93. Lt. JoOOson testified that he confirmed that the 

''bedroom at the top of the stairs on the right" is where items of clothing were located and that he 

determined this room belonged to Petitioner "through his mother" along with "mail and some 

various things in that room that had his name on it." Id. at 392. He further testified that "both 

pairs of boots came from the bedroom on the left." Id. Lt. Johnson added that a "young boy" 

occupied that room but "his mother - - it came to our attention that he shared that room with [the 

Petitioner]." Id. 

While "[i]t is unprofessional conduct for the prosecutor to intentionally to misstate the 

evidence or mislead the jury as to the inferences it may draw," there is no evidence in the record 

to suggest that Mr. Chiles is guilty of misconduct. Syl. Pt. 7, State v. England, 180 W.Va. 342, 

376376 S.E.2d 548 (1988). It is more likely that he simply mistook the mother's identification 
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of the occupants of each bedroom where items of clothing were found, for the identification of 

who owned the items of clothing. However, the Petitioner failed to object to allow the trial court 

to address any alleged discrepancy, and there is otherwise no evidence in the record to suggest 

that Mr. Chiles intentionally misrepresented Lt. lohnson's testimony. 

3. The State never presented the mother's statement as evidence in this case. Mr. Chiles 

simply asked the Petitioner on cross-examination if he recalled Lt. Johnson having testified as to 

the mother's statement, which appears to have been a question based on a misunderstanding of 

Lt. Johnson's testimony, and to which the Petitioner was able to refute in his testimony. 

This Court has held that "the Confrontation Clause contained within the Sixth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 14 of Article III of the West Virginia 

Constitution bars the admission of a testimonial statement by a witness who does not appear at 

trial, unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the accused had a prior opportunity to cross

examine the witness." Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Mechling, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311 (2006), 

citing Cral1ford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, (2004). 

The Petitioner testified to the fact that Lt. Johnson never testified that his mother ever 

made a statement as to the ownership of the boots in question. And in fact, the record does not 

indicate that the mother ever made any statement to police concerning the boots in question. 

Mr. Chiles' question, while based on a misunderstanding, was not an admission of a testimonial 

statement by a witness who [did] not appear at trial. The evidence was the Petitioner's testimony 

that no such evidence of his mother's statement was ever presented. 

4. The Petitioner's argument that his mother's "imaginary statement" was hearsay is also 

misplaced. Again, the statement was not presented as evidence but in the form of a question 

presented to the Petitioner on cross-examination. Moreover, the exchange between the 
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prosecutor and the Petitioner as to whether Lt. Johnson referenced a statement from Petitioner's 

mother concerning who the boots belonged is not hearsay, since it was not offered for the truth of 

the matter asserted. In other words, the exchange centered on whether Lt. Johnson actually 

referenced the mother's statement in his testimony, not whether the boots were his. 

5. Because the Petitioner failed to raise his objection at trial, this assignment of error is 

subject to a plain error analysis. While the '''plain error' doctrine grants appellate courts, in the 

interest of justice, the authority to notice error to which no objection has been made," no such 

error exists to warrant such notice by this Court. See State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 18, 459 

S.E.2d 114, 129 (1995). This Court has held that "[t]o trigger application of the "plain error" 

doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and 

(4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. 

Pt. 7,Id. 

However, even if Mr. Chiles' line of questioning constituted plain error, there is no 

evidence to suggest his mistake was intentional, or was so misleading as to prejudice the 

"substantial rights" of the Petitioner, or "the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the 

judicial proceedings." The Petitioner called out Mr. Chiles' mis-recollection of Lt. Johnson's 

testimony. Also, the jury was able to hear Lt. Johnson's testimony firsthand, so if the question 

had any consequence it may have very well been to the detriment of the prosecution's credibility. 

Also, as explained supra, given the weight of the evidence presented in the State's case-in-chief, 

it is unlikely this exchange was so prejudicial that it influenced the outcome of the case. 

Therefore, the facts and legal argument related to Mr. Chiles' questions concerning a nonexistent 
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statement by the Petitioner's mother do not implicate the plain error doctrine or warrant 

reversal.7 

C. 	 The Petitioner Opened the Door to His Criminal History and Character When He 
Presented This Evidence as Part of His Defense at Trial. 

1. First, the Petitioner never raised an objection to any statements made during the 

prosecution's closing arguments, and thus, he has waived his right to raise this propensity 

argument on appeal. 

2. The Petitioner did more than just open the door to the introduction of character and prior 

bad acts evidence; he chose to put his criminal history front and center as a part of his defense 

strategy. Regardless of the wisdom of this decision, the prosecution was then permitted to use 

the Petitioner's own Rule 404 (a) and 404 (b) evidence against him against him. 

At the pretrial hearing, the Petitioner's trial counsel disclosed that the prosecution had 

agreed not to use the Petitioner's criminal history as "404(b)-type stuff in its case in chief." App. 

Vol. II at 66. The prosecution confirmed that the Petitioner's criminal history would not be 

introduced unless he were to "putO his character in issue." Id. Regardless, the Petitioner chose 

to offer the following testimony on direct examination relative to his criminal history: 

7 This Court looks at the following four factors when determining whether an improper remark 

from the prosecutor warrants reversal: 

(1) the degree to which the prosecutor's remarks have a tendency to mislead the 
jury and to prejudice the accused; (2) whether the remarks were isolated or 
extensive; (3) absent the remarks, the strength of competent proof introduced to 
establish the guilt of the accused; and (4) whether the comments were deliberately 
placed before the jury to divert attention to extraneous matters. 

Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Sugg, 193 W.Va. 388,456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). 
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• 	 When asked to describe the events surrounding the first dice game, the Petitioner 

volunteered that he "wasn't even out of prison for fifty days before any of this 

happened." App. Vol. IV. at 514. 

• 	 Petitioner's trial counsel sought and received confinnation from the Petitioner that 

he was paroled from prison and on supervision at the time of the murder. Id. 

at 531. He also confinned that his presence in Huntington was a violation of his 

parole. Id. at 533. 

• 	 The Petitioner was asked if he was "a street person" and "live[d] the street life," 

to which the he responded "yes." Id. 

• 	 The Petitioner's counsel specifically asked "what did you go to prison for in 

Columbus?" Id. at 534. The Petitioner explained that he was first incarcerated 

for a charge he described as "having a weapon while under disability" and 

tampering with the evidence, a second time for carrying a concealed weapon in 

violation of his parole, and then a third time for violating probation with "another 

gun charge." Id at 534-35. 

• 	 When asked why he fled from the U.S. Marshals when they tried to arrest him, the 

Petitioner explained ''that's what I do whenever police come around when you - 

whenever you are doing something if you dirty or whatever, you just run," 

because "don't nobody want to go to jail." Id. at 546. 

• 	 The Petitioner also con finned that he was in Huntington selling drugs. Id. at 535. 

• 	 He described the moment he learned of the victim's death, stating that his 

"criminal wheel startled] spinning," because he was worried that "police 

interaction" would cause him to violate his parole if "they try and talk. to me or 

32 



something," and that he "can't be down here." Id. at 540. The Petitioner's reason 

for fleeing Huntington on the night of the murder was his fear of being charged 

for violating his parole. Id. at 540-41. 

Given the emphasis the Petitioner placed on his criminal history as part of his defense, 

the prosecution had the right to address it on cross-examination. Thus, on cross-examination it 

was revealed that the Petitioner actually had around seven felonies, not just the three he disclosed 

at on direct. Id. at 552. 

During his closing, the prosecution properly argued the facts as they were presented at 

trial, including those facts presented by the Petitioner, i.e., his criminal history and evidence of 

bad character. The prosecution made a point to note each fact the Petitioner had volunteered 

during his testimony concerning his criminal history and the nature of his "street life" as a drug 

dealer. Id. at 630. He referenced the three weapons charges as they served to bolster the 

credibility of Antonio Smith's testimony that he overheard the Petitioner at the first dice game 

say "I wish 1had my gun." Id. at 631. The prosecution then remarked that the prior charges and 

then Mr. Smith's testimony made "it[] obvious that [the Petitioner] likes his guns." Id. At no 

point during the prosecution's closing argument did Petitioner's counsel assert any objections. 

Perhaps seeing the error of his defense strategy, the Petitioner now claims that the 

prosecution improperly used the evidence that he presented as part of his defense as propensity 

evidence in its closing. This Court has noted that "Rule 404(b) begins by restating the 

exclusionary principle of Rule 404(a) that evidence of crimes, wrongs, or acts is inadmissible to 

prove that a person acted in confonnity therewith on a particular occasion," and that a 

prosecutor's presentation of Rule 404(b) evidence must "show a relevant purpose other than 

proving conduct by means of the general propensity inference." State v. McGinnis, 193 W.Va. 
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147, 153-54, 455 S.E.2d 516, 522-23 (1995). However, in this case the 404(a) and 404(b) 

evidence was admitted into evidence by the accused, not the prosecution. Thus, the prosecutor in 

this case did not err, as he is permitted "to argue all reasonable inferences from the evidence in 

the record," including the evidence admitted by the Petitioner as a part of his defense See 

England, W.Va. at 350, 376 S.E.2d at 556. 

3. The prosecution's use of the Petitioner's criminal history was not plain error, and any 

inferences drawn did not affect his substantial rights, "or seriously affects the fairness, integrity, 

or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." See Syl. Pt. 7, Miller; see also Syl. Pt. 5 & 6, 

State v. Sugg, 193 W.Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). Any prejudice related to the evidence of 

his criminal history and bad character was caused by his decision to admit the same into 

evidence in the first place. 

D. 	 The Prosecution Did Not Elicit Character Evidence Through the Testimony of its 
Witness, Julie Eplion. 

Since the Petitioner failed to object when the prosecutor asked Julie Eplion if she had 

ever seen the Petitioner with a gun, this assignment of error on appeal is subject to a plain error 

analysis. App. Vol. III at 277. The Petitioner's trial counsel asked Ms. Eplion on cross

examination if she had seen the Petitioner with a gun on the night of the murder, and she 

responded that she had not. Id. at 275. On redirect, the prosecution asked if she "had ever seen 

him with a gun" and she responded in the affirmative. Id. 

First, this inquiry does not constitute inadmissible character evidence under the 404(a) of 

the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. An individual's possession of a gun is not a testament to 

that individual's character. Ms. Eplion's testimony that she had seen the Petitioner with a gun 

before was not evidence of his character or character traits. This is especially true, since the 

State did not present evidence during its case-in-chief to suggest that the Petitioner was 

34 




prohibited under W.Va. Code § 61-7-7(a) from possessing a gun. The Petitioner's reliance on 

the per curiam decision in State v. Maggard, 232 W.Va. 55 (2013), is unavailing. In Maggard, 

the witness's testimony that "I heard how he is" at least had some bearing on the defendant's 

character and/or character trait, whereas here, the mere fact that a witness had seen the Petitioner 

with a gun in the past has no bearing on his character at all. What is more, it was the Petitioner 

who made the prosecution's question relevant for the purpose of redirect, when he asked 

Ms. Eplion if she saw the Petitioner with a gun on the night of the murder. Also, before 

Ms. Eplion testified, the Petitioner's trial counsel asked Mr. Wade the same question on cross

examination. App. Vol. II at 192-93. 

Second, the prejudicial propensity evidence that tainted his character as a "gun toting 

criminal" was offered by the Petitioner himself when he volunteered to the jury that he had three 

felony convictions on weapons charges. 

E. 	 Antonio Smith's Reference to the Victim's "Rematch Day" Statement Was Not 

Inadmissible Hearsay. 

Again, the Petitioner has waived his right to object to Antonio Smith's testimony on 

appeal because he did not object at trial. The Petitioner's assignment of error also fails under a 

plain error analysis. Mr. Smith testified that the victim and the Petitioner had participated in a 

dice game a few days before the murder and that the victim had won money from the Petitioner. 

App. Vol. II at 103-0S. He explained that it is a "rule of the street" for a winner of a dice game 

to give the loser an opportunity to win their money back. Id. at lOS. He went on to testify that

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